
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Scrutiny 
Committee

Councillor J S Hawkes (Chairman)
Councillor M J Davis (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor A Bardoe Councillor C S McLean
Councillor J Burrell Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor R M Currans Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor P Cutler Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor J A Hayes Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor S R Jarnell Councillor A S Sandhu MBE
Councillor J Jones Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor Mrs M B Kelly

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Tuesday 18 September 2018

at 7 pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
AGENDA

Tuesday 18 September 2018

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 

To receive declarations of interest from Members including the terms 
of any Grants of Dispensation.

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 10 July 2018 (Pages 1 - 
10)

4. Urgent Items 

The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are 
any urgent items and their position on the agenda. 

5. To consider references from other Committees (IF ANY) 

There are no references from other Committees at present.

6. Chairman's Update 

7. Regulation 9 Notice (Pages 11 
- 14)

To consider any issues arising from the Regulation 9 Notice for the 
period 10 August 2018 to 31 December 2018. 

8. Council Litter Enforcement Scheme [Draw Down] (Pages 15 
- 20)

To receive a report from the Enforcement & Regulatory Services 
(EARS) Manager on the Council’s current Litter Enforcement 
Scheme, as requested by the Chairman (through the draw-down 
mechanism). 





1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday 10 July 2018 
at 7.00 pm.

PRESENT: Councillor J S Hawkes (Chairman)
Councillor M J Davis (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs. R M Currans
Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor J Jones
Councillor C S McLean
Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor Mrs. J A Ozog
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE
Councillor Mrs. R F Storey

ABSENT: Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor J Burrell
Councillor Paul Cutler
Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor M B Kelly

Dartford Borough Council Officers:-

Marie Gerald – Housing Solutions & Private Sector 
Manager, Housing Services

PRESENT TO RESPOND TO ISSUES RAISED BY THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:

John Atkins – Chair, Dartford Churches Winter 
Shelter Project (DCWSP) Steering 
Group

Michael Smith – Project Administrator, DCWSP

CABINET MEMBERS: Councillor J A Kite MBE, Leader of the Council, 
Cabinet Chairman, Councillor Pat Coleman Portfolio 
Holder for Housing

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors; J Burrell, P 
Cutler, J A Hayes and Mrs M B Kelly.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 10 JULY 2018

2

There were no declarations of interest.

3. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 17 
APRIL 2018 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 17 April 2018 be confirmed as 
accurate.

4. URGENT ITEMS 

The Chairman announced that there were no urgent items for consideration 
by Members.

5. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES [IF ANY] 

There were no references from other Committees for Members’ consideration.

6. CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE 

The Chairman advised Members that he had no points at that juncture.

7. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

RESOLVED: 

That the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 15 June 2018 to 31 
October 2018 be noted.

8. FUNDING OF DARTFORD CHURCHES WINTER SHELTER [DRAW 
DOWN] 

At the invitation of the Chairman and with Members’ agreement, the Vice-
Chairman assumed the chairmanship of the meeting for this draw-down item 
made on behalf of the Conservative Group.

The Acting Chairman confirmed that all Members had received copies of the 
tabled document ‘Dartford Churches Winter Shelter Project – 2018’’ and 
welcomed his guests from the Shelter – Michael Smith, Project Administrator 
and John Atkins, Chair of the Shelter’s Steering Group. He also noted the 
presence of the Leader of the Council, the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and the Council’s Housing Solutions & Private Sector Manager to 
respond to Members’ questions.

He proposed that Michael Smith and John Atkins first brief the Committee on 
the origins of the Winter Shelter Project and its current operation, before 
Members addressed their questions to the Leader and the Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder regarding the Council’s decision to fund the Dartford Churches Winter 
Shelter Project.  He confirmed, in response to a specific question from the 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 10 JULY 2018

3

Deputy Shadow Leader, that the purpose of the draw-down was to establish 
clarity over the Council’s decision to fund the Winter Shelter Project: not to 
scrutinise the Shelter’s operation by Dartford Churches. He asked that any 
questions Members might have in the latter context, be addressed directly to 
himself as Acting Chairmen, not to the attending guests.

Michael Smith and John Atkins highlighted the following principal points for 
Members, drawing on the contents of the tabled report:

 The Winter Shelter Project was in its 5th year of operation during the 
peak cold Winter months from 1 January to 31 March;

 The Winter Project offered over-night accommodation, a hot evening 
meal and a cooked breakfast to a maximum of 12 homeless people at 
a different church venue each night from 7 pm to 8 am the following 
morning Sunday to Saturday;

 All churches in Dartford supported the Winter Project, which had grown 
year on year, and now had 180 regular volunteers operating at 6 
separate church venues in Dartford; 

 The Project had been entirely reliant on donations from churches, and 
individuals in its first 4 years of operation, prior to the funding donation 
from the Council in November 2017 following an approach to the 
Leader by the previous Project Administrator, Michael Pethick;

 The Council’s grant of £10k had enabled the Winter Project to make a 
significant and desired step-change in its operation in 2018, from its 
previous bed & breakfast service to one which helped homeless people 
to ‘move on’ to a better life off the streets;

 The Council’s donation of £10k had been used to fund the general 
running costs of the 2018 Project [excluding salaries] and enabled the 
Steering Group to use its existing bank balance of some £2k plus 
further donations from churches and individuals, to fund the salaries of 
2 Project Workers during the Shelter’s peak operating months of 
January to March for 30 hours each per week, reduced to 16 hours per 
week during the transition month of April. In addition, from its existing 
bank balance, the Steering Group had been able to appoint a part-time 
Project Worker to work throughout the year help clients to build on their 
initial Winter Shelter experience during January to April, and ‘move-on’ 
during the Spring and Summer months;

 With the exception of 3 or 4 clients who had had to be put in a hostel 
for a 5 night period due to a temporary funding short-fall, the Winter 
Project had been able to accommodate all its clients during January to 
March 2018, even squeezing in 1 or 2 above the 12 per night maximum 
on occasion.

The Acting Chairman thanked Michael Smith and John Atkins for providing 
Members with further background and insight into the Winter Shelter’s 
operation, and the progress it had made in 2018 following the Council’s 
donation to its running costs, and expressed his praise of the highly creditable 
work undertaken by the Shelter with the homeless in Dartford.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 10 JULY 2018

4

He then asked the Leader of the Council to clarify for the Committee, the 
rationale behind the Council’s decision to make a funding donation to the 
Winter Shelter, and how that donation had helped to meet the Council’s 
Corporate Objectives.

The Leader advised Members that the Council had a general responsibility for 
the well-being of the residents of Dartford, and a more specific responsibility 
for the Homeless in the Borough, in particular those sleeping on the street in 
the most extreme winter weather, on purely compassionate grounds. The 
‘risk’ for the Council in making such a grant funding to the Dartford Churches 
Winter Shelter Project, was that the Council became the helper of 1st resort in 
the future, which could conflict with its statutory responsibilities under the new 
Homelessness Reduction Act [to provide accommodation for those that 
qualified]. Part of the rationale in granting funding to the Winter Shelter Project 
was that it provided accommodation in Dartford, whereas under the Act, the 
Council were not always able to accommodate the Homeless within the 
Borough, only nearby in Kent. Another attraction for the Council in helping 
fund the Winter Project was that it provided much more than ‘fish and chips’ 
and a ‘bed for the night’: it aimed to equip its clients with the skills to ‘move-
on’ off the streets and to better their lives. 

He confirmed that he had been approached by the previous Project 
Administrator, Michael Pethick, during the 2017 Dartford Festival. Michael had 
asked if the Council would consider making a financial donation to the Project 
for 2017/18. The Leader had subsequently received an application for a grant-
in-aid on 25 August 2017 which he had considered in consultation with the 
Managing Director, as the Responsible Council Officer, and a grant of £10k 
from the Identified Initiatives Reserve (2017-18) had been made that 
November, on the sole condition that the monies were not used for salary 
purposes [in line with the Council’s grants-in-aid policy]. In short, the Council 
paid for the Winter Shelter service for 2018 and the Shelter met the salaries of 
its staff. Council Officers were brought on board to ensure that the Winter 
Shelter’s services dove-tailed as far as possible with those commissioned by 
the Council from Porchlight, and the umbrella of services provided by the 
Council’s new Housing Services Hub and its partner agencies, including the 
Mental Health Service, to meet the Council’s statutory obligations for the 
homeless under the provisions of the new Homelessness Reduction Act. The 
donation to the Winter Shelter was a well-meaning act in furtherance of the 
Council’s statutory obligations to the homeless, and the Leader of the Council 
looked forward to making further contributions [on application] to the Dartford 
Churches Winter Shelter Project in the future.

The Housing Solutions & Private Sector Housing Manager confirmed the 
following points in response to specific questions from Members regarding the 
Shelter’s clients:

 The Shelter’s clients were people whom the Council could not help, as 
they did not qualify under any of the ‘5 tests’ for homelessness under 
the Housing (Homeless Persons) Act 1977 [prior to April 2018] which 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 10 JULY 2018

5

defined the Council’s statutory responsibilities with regard to homeless 
persons and families;

 The Council’s Severe Weather Protocol formed part of the support 
element of the Act, and applied to homeless persons sleeping on the 
streets when temperatures dropped below zero for 3 (three) 
consecutive nights;

 The Council also provided a Single Person Homeless Service to those 
that qualified;

 Hostels were an alternative to the some of the Shelter’s clients but 
could be problematical in terms of a client’s previous history and 
behaviour in a hostel;

 Shelter clients may have been to the Council prior to the Shelter, but 
either failed to qualify for the Council’s help under the Act, or had 
previously lost accommodation provided by the Council or its partner 
Agencies, due to dependency issues – but all options were always 
examined.

Michael Smith confirmed, in response to a general question, that the Winter 
Shelter did not operate in December because churches were fully booked with 
all the functions and ceremonies associated with the celebration of Christmas. 
However, advice from Porchlight and other similar organisations dealing with 
the homeless in Dartford showed that over the Christmas period homeless 
people were, in the main, accommodated by relatives. In response to a further 
direct question from a Member, he confirmed that Council’s donation had 
helped the Winter Shelter’s 2018 operation to a significant degree, and that 
further donations would be welcomed.

The Deputy Shadow Leader asked why Council funding of the Winter Shelter 
operation had only begun in 2017/18.

The Leader advised that Dartford Churches had not previously applied for 
Council funding in support of their Winter Shelter Project prior to 2017. He had 
been more than happy to accede to that request for a funding donation, as a 
grant-in-aid from the Identified Initiatives Reserve and judged that the 
Shelter’s operation had grown as a result of the Council’s donation with an 
expanded remit.

Other Members supported the Leader in his assessment of the positive effect 
that the Council’s donation had made to the Shelter’s operation in 2018 and 
their efforts to help those homeless persons who did not qualify for Council 
support under the statutory requirements of the Act.  

The Shadow Leader of the Council enquired whether block funding by the 
Council over a 3-5 year period might not be more beneficial to the Shelter’s 
operation, particularly in terms of predicated income to expand its expenditure 
aims.

The Leader advised in response, that the Council’s donation to the Winter 
Shelter was assumed to be ongoing [and confirmed on application]. The 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 10 JULY 2018

6

Shelter’s Steering Group was regularly coming up with new ideas and under 
the funding criteria of grants-in-aid the Council’s response needed to remain 
flexible and responsive to specific proposals. He also confirmed in response 
to a follow-up questions that the grants scheme did not fund salaries and that 
no conditions would be imposed by the Council regarding future grants-in-aid 
on application. The Council trusted the Shelter to spend its donations 
responsibly to meet the perceived needs of its clients. However, if the Shelter 
did move outside the scope of any Council award by e.g. attaching a religious 
obligation from its clients to benefit from the Shelter service, the Council 
would review any award and its future policy over such donations.

The Deputy Shadow Leader referred Members to page 9 of the Shelter’s 2018 
report and the perceived need (by a Project Worker) for a ‘wrap-around’ 
service for the homeless in Dartford, based on a multi-agency model in line 
with that of Tonbridge Council, to tackle drug and alcohol addiction and to 
meet the needs of a recent trend of East European workers rough sleeping in 
Dartford who were using the Shelter. 

The Leader, supported by the Housing Solutions & Private Sector Manager 
(HS&PSM) reminded Members of the important difference between the 
Shelter’s clients and homeless persons and rough sleepers that the Council 
had a statutory obligation to assist under the Act. 

The HS&PSM advised Members that the Council were aware of a number of 
East European workers sleeping rough in the Borough. This and other issues 
were being addressed by the Vulnerability Forum run by the Council’s 
Community Safety Unit (CSU) and the Safety Forum. Significant and 
increasingly successful work was also being undertaken on a multi-agency 
basis; including addressing drug and alcohol dependency and mental health 
issues amongst the homeless, via the Council’s new Housing Services Hub; 
to meet its statutory obligations under the Homelessness Prevention Act.

The Leader advised that in terms of lessons learnt and the shape and 
adequacy of the Council’s provision for the Homeless and Rough Sleepers in 
the Borough; Porchlight’s Single Homeless Service (commissioned by the 
Council) had corresponded with the Shelter’s own survey in terms of 
numbers, demographics and profile, and whether those individuals did or did 
not have recourse to help from the Council under the statutory provisions of 
the Act. He judged that both the Porchlight Survey and the Council’s donation 
to the Winter Shelter as money well spent.

The Chairman held a different view. He suggested that the most important 
lessons to be learnt from the Porchlight and Shelter surveys was that most 
Rough Sleepers in the Borough were young, had drug or alcohol 
dependencies and often suffered from mental health issues, and that there 
were lessons to be learnt by the Council and its Service partners in these 
areas.

The HS&PS Manager informed the Chairman that the Council were aware of 
these issues and demographics, and the contribution of the Shelter in helping 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 10 JULY 2018

7

such clients whom the Council could not, under the provisions of the Act.  She 
advised that parental eviction and mental health issues were the primary 
causes of homelessness amongst the young. The Council’s multi-agency 
operation in the new Housing Services Hub sought to address these and 
other issues affecting the Homeless, in a wrap-around service provision to 
meet the statutory requirements of the Act. She represented the Council in the 
continuing national discussion of these issues and at local authority level with 
KCC, over the commissioning of further resources in Dartford. She was aware 
that the YMCA held some provision to meet the needs of Dartford residents 
sleeping rough in the Borough but did not know if the Winter Shelter provision 
was specific to the needs of Dartford residents or all rough sleepers and 
would seek their feed-back on that point.

The Leader supported the HS&PS Manager in her comments to Members and 
advised that the Council were aware of their statutory obligations under the 
Act and met the needs of the Homeless where they could. The Council’s 
donation to the Winter Shelter went beyond that statutory obligation and 
helped to meet the needs of the Shelter’s clients who did not qualify under the 
Act but suggested that it was money well spent.

In response to a specific question from a Dartford County Member, it was 
confirmed that Shelter representatives had not yet applied to KCC for funding 
but would consider doing so now.

The Deputy Shadow Leader expressed his concern that 25% of rough 
sleepers were LGBT (Lesbian, Gay, Bi-sexual and Trans-gender), separately 
the Chairman sought clarification from the Leader regarding his earlier 
remarks that the Council’s contribution to the Shelter could conflict with its 
statutory responsibilities under the Act.

The Leader confirmed that he was aware of the LGBT demographic amongst 
the Rough Sleeper community, but that no specific demands had been made 
by that category in Dartford, other than for external advice for generally 
available services.  The Council’s experience was that the LGBT community 
used London authorities to access services, given Dartford’s close proximity 
to the Metropolis. His personal discussions with members of the LGBT 
community at the YMCA, during his participation in the ‘Rough Sleep in the 
Park’ event, had confirmed this impression. The Winter Shelter Project helped 
all souls sleeping rough in Dartford including those in the LGBT community, 
and the Council’s donation to the Shelter had enabled it to use its own funds 
to finance a new case worker to hold 1 to 1 sessions with its clients, to 
establish all their diverse needs.

Regarding a possible conflict with the Council’s statutory obligations for the 
Homeless under the Act; the Leader advised that he was aware of the 
Liverpool Council experiment which had helped 25 homeless people in that 
city but at significant expense; over and above the cost of Liverpool City 
Council’s statutory responsibilities under the Act. Dartford must avoid such a 
scenario, and allow its contribution to the Shelter to grow organically, to meet 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 10 JULY 2018

8

perceived need for those who did not qualify under the Act for direct 
assistance from the local authority.

The Portfolio Holder for Housing added his own support and appreciation of 
the Shelter’s operation and their support of the homeless and those sleeping 
rough in the streets of the Borough. The Housing Solutions & Private Sector 
Manager and her team met the Council’s obligations for the homeless under 
the statutory obligations of the Act, but the Shelter’s operation went beyond 
that, to help meet the needs of those the Council could not and was to be 
congratulated on its expanded operation.

The Acting Chairman concluded discussion by thanking the Leader of the 
Council, Cabinet Portfolio Holder and the Council’s HS&PS Manager for 
attending the Committee’s proceedings to respond to Members questions 
concerning the Council’s decision to make a funding donation to the Dartford 
Churches Winter Shelter Project operation in 2017/18. He also thanked his 
guests from the Shelter, Michael Smith and John Atkins for briefing Members 
and congratulated them on achieving a more flexible, sophisticated and 
improved service for their clients in 2018.

The Chairman of Scrutiny resumed the chairmanship of proceedings.
 

9. SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18 

The Chairman welcomed the report and expressing his thanks to the 
Committee Co-ordinator for its preparation and his general support of the 
Committee and its Members in the period under review.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the report and appendices detailing the work of the 
Committee during the 2017-18 municipal cycle as presented, and that 
the report be submitted to the General Assembly of the Council.

10. SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 2018-19 

The Chairman welcomed the report and draft Work Plan (attached at 
Appendix A to the report) for the remainder of the 2018-19 municipal cycle. 

He noted that there were no WP items scheduled for the next meeting of the 
Committee on 18 September, and asked Members to consider possible topics 
for discussion and to advise him and the Committee Co-ordinator of their 
proposals.

He confirmed that any requests for draw-down items should continue to be 
addressed to himself and the Vice-Chairman on a political Group basis, for 
approval by the Managing Director within the timings set out in the 
Committee’s Protocol.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 10 JULY 2018

9

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the report and draft Work Plan for the remainder of 
the 2018-19 municipal cycle as detailed at Appendix A to the report;

2. That Members identify further topics for possible inclusion in the 
current Work Plan, in particular for the next meeting of the Committee 
in September 2018, and advise accordingly;

3. That items for draw-down be advised to the Chairman and Vice-
Chairman as set out in the Committee’s Protocol for approval by the 
Managing Director as Responsible Council Officer.

The meeting closed at 8.08 pm

Councillor J S Hawkes
CHAIRMAN





10 August 2018 - 31 December 2018

1 of 3

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE

This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly.

All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively.

Cabinet Members:

Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Overall Strategy
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader, Strategic Service Provision & Town Centre
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Community Development
Councillor P F Coleman, Portfolio: Front Line Services, Customer Champion & Housing
Councillor K M Kelly, Portfolio: Transport and Infrastructure
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Strategic Council Finances & Major Capital Projects
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Events, Leisure & Heritage

All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk.

This notice supersedes all previous notices.

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:memberservices@dartford.gov.uk


2 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Stone Lodge - Appropriation for 
Planning Purposes

  

Cabinet
1 Nov 2018

Appropriation for 
planning purposes to be 
advertised post in 
principle decision by 
Cabinet.

Marie Kelly-Stone, Head of Legal 
Services
Tel: 01322 343634
marie.kelly-
stone@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN

Housing Benefit Overpayment 
Write-offs

To consider writing-off Housing 
Benefit overpayments where it has 
not been possible to obtain payment, 
where the Tribunals Service has 
exercised its discretion not to 
recover overpaid sums or where 
recovery is not permissible under the 
relevant Housing Benefit or Council 
Tax Benefit Regulations.

Cabinet
1 Nov 2018

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraphs 1 & 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Write-off of National Non-
Domestic Rates

To consider writing-off Non-Domestic 
Rate debts where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment because 
of insolvency, because the ratepayer 
cannot be traced or where the debt 
is otherwise irrecoverable.

Cabinet
1 Nov 2018

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)



3 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Local Scheme of Council Tax 
Support 2019/20

To agree a Local Scheme of Council 
Tax Support for 2019/20 to 
recommend to the General 
Assembly of the Council.

Cabinet
6 Dec 2018

Consultation on the 
proposed scheme will 
be carried out with 
existing claimants, 
Council Tax payers and 
relevant stakeholders 
via the Council’s web 
site.

Sarah Martin, Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)
Tel: 01322 343632
sarah.martin@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN





                             
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

18 SEPTEMBER 2018

LITTER ENFORCEMENT SCHEME UPDATE REPORT  

1. Summary

The Chairman has requested (through the draw down mechanism) that the 
Scrutiny Committee consider the Council’s Litter Enforcement Scheme as 
approved by Cabinet on 2 June 2016 [Minute No. 8]. This report provides an 
overview of the Litter Enforcement Scheme currently in operation under the 
terms of a 3-year contract.

2. RECOMMENDATION 

That Scrutiny Committee consider the contents of the report.  

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Approval was given by Cabinet at its meeting on 7 March 2013 to 
instigate a 6-month Litter Enforcement pilot utilising ‘Kingdom’ Security 
Limited [Minute No. 153]. Implementation of the pilot was delayed in 
order to assess the impact of such enforcement elsewhere and the pilot 
commenced with Kingdom Security Limited (“Kingdom”) on the 25 
January 2016. Some 23 councils nationally and in Kent, also utilise 
Kingdom to provide their litter and dog fouling enforcement.  This 
Committee previously considered the Cabinet’s decision to engage an 
external contractor to deliver the service at its meeting on 10 November 
2015 [Minute No. 21]

3.2. Three months into the pilot, the Enforcement and Regulatory Services 
Manager commissioned a review of the service, undertaken by the 
Enforcement Manager, which informed Cabinet’s decision on 2 June 
2016 to continue the service [Minute No. 8]. Following an open 
procurement Kingdom were awarded a three-year contract to deliver the 
service, commencing January 2017. 

3.3. Internal Audit have also examined the scheme and produced a report 
(DBC16-16/17) of its findings on 6 July 2016. The Internal Audit Opinion 
was of ‘Substantial Assurance’ and this was reported to Audit Board on 
21 September 2016 [Minute No. 27].

3.4. Kingdom currently provide five Enforcement Officers, including a team 
leader and a separate administration support officer sited at the 
Council’s offices, to conduct joint and single patrols 6 days out of 7 per 
week, working 8 hours per officer per day between the hours of 7 a.m. 
and 10 p.m. Enforcement Officers have been authorised to issue Fixed 
Penalty Notices (FPNs) on behalf of the Council as authorised by the 
Cabinet at its meeting on 3 December 2015. [Minute No. 75].



                             
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

18 SEPTEMBER 2018

3.5. The fixed penalty payable on the issue of a FPN for litter is £75; whilst 
the penalty for dog fouling is set by the legislation at £50.  The recipient 
of the Notice has 14 days to pay the penalty charge.

3.6. Each Enforcement Officer, on issue of a Fixed Penalty Notice produces 
documentation/paperwork immediately, including reports and witness 
statements. Kingdom provides 40 hours of on-site administrative support 
and an evidence collation/legal case file service at no additional cost to 
the Council.

3.7. Kingdom’s Enforcement Officers have issued litter Fixed Penalty Notices  
within Dartford town centre and some of the outer lying shopping areas 
such as Longfield, Greenhithe and Swanscombe as well other Wards 
and the Council’s Parks and open spaces. 

3.8. The Enforcement Officers also act as a visible presence in the town 
centre. They are linked in to the Dartford Town Against Crime (DTAC) 
network and the town centre radio network. On occasions, they have 
assisted in providing information relating to persons such as known 
recidivist shoplifters and with events; they have also provided assistance 
at incidents such as Road Traffic Collisions.

Performance 

3.9. For the period 25/1/16 – to 31/7/18 a total of 6965 Fixed Penalty Notices 
(FPN) have been issued by Kingdom’s Enforcement Officers. These can 
be broken down as – 6540 cigarettes, 132 food, 20 dog fouling and 248 
other. There are 267 outstanding payments and 188 cancelled tickets 
that were not charged to the Council. The payment ratio of Fixed Penalty 
Notices averages at 75%, which means the scheme, runs at no cost to 
the Council. 

3.10. For the period 31/7/17 to 31/7/18 3156 FPN’s have been issued. These 
can be broken down as 2909 cigarettes, 91 food, 0 dog fouling and 140 
other. 

3.11. The number of FPN’s issued in the borough ward areas for 25/1/16 to 
31/7/18 can be broken down as follows:  

 6054 in the Town Centre area, 
 14 in Swanscombe 
 528 in Greenhithe, 
 17 in Bean, 
 33 in Darenth, 
 67 in Brent, 
 5 in Joyce Green, 
 23 in Littlebrook, 
 1 in Longfield, 
 67 in Newtown, 
 123 in Stone, 



                             
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

18 SEPTEMBER 2018

 27 in Wilmington. 

The number of FPNs issued in the borough ward areas for 31/7/17 to 
31/7/18 can be broken down as follows: 

 2765 in the Town Centre area, 
 3 in Swanscombe, 
 184 in Greenhithe, 
 17 in Bean
 1 in Darenth,
 38 in Brent,
 3 in Joyce Green,
 19 in Littlebrook,
 47 in Newtown, 
 52 in Stone,
 27 in Wilmington.

3.12. For the period 25/1/16 to 31/7/18 the Council have paid Kingdom £351, 
624 and collected £454,421 from FPNs paid; thereby generating income 
of £102,797. This does not include income from costs via the courts, 
which comes in ‘drip feed’ part payments, but if all were paid in full, would 
amount to some £114,600.  The percentage of payment of penalty 
charges remains around 75%, which is favourable when compared to 
other council schemes.  

3.13. For the period 25/1/16 – 31/7/18 a small number of representations and 
challenges were made by perpetrators, all of which were dealt with 
through respectively, the Council/Kingdom complaints’ protocols. There 
have been 5 corporate complaints made to the Council relating to the 
issue of Fixed Penalty Notices by Kingdom Officers, 3 of which were 
upheld. 

3.14. A detailed Customer Access Service Review for Littering and Dog 
Fouling Patrols has been completed by the Enforcement Manager and 
is available for the public to view on the Council website.

3.15. Kingdom Staff retention and continuity remains an area for some 
concern although this is in common with most other schemes in other 
boroughs. 

3.16. Kingdom’s Enforcement Officers regularly patrol identified ‘hot spot 
areas’ within the borough as tasked by the Enforcement Manager 
(following intelligence and information received). All requests for 
Kingdom to attend a specific area are considered and, where 
appropriate, acted upon. 

3.17. Offenders who, following warning letters, do not pay the penalty charge 
are summonsed to appear at Medway Magistrates’ Court. All case 
papers are prepared and checked by the Enforcement Manager and are 
presented at court by the Council’s appointed barrister. Generally, the 



                             
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

18 SEPTEMBER 2018

Court imposes a fine of around £450 on each offender. Court fines are 
retained by the Court, except for the award of additional costs to the 
Council. The Council are normally awarded costs of £205 for each 
offender, which come in small percentage payments over a period of 
time.

3.18. From liaison with those responsible for Litter Enforcement within other 
Kent district council schemes, the Council’s experiences would appear 
to mirror those encountered elsewhere in some ways, but it is clear that 
Dartford Borough Council’s tight and intrusive management of the 
scheme in partnership with Kingdom has shown benefits in terms of 
performance and complaints. Representations, challenges and 
complaints would appear to be below that experienced by other 
boroughs. There has been very little adverse media publicity in Dartford. 

Conclusion 

3.19. The Litter Enforcement Scheme for the Council is currently delivering 
against expected outcomes in terms of:-

 A cleaner streets policy; 
 The engagement and education of the public, retailers and 

stakeholders;
 Provision of a visible presence and deterrent;
 Contribution toward the funding of the scheme, with the payment 

of penalty charges covering the overall running costs;
 An income, which enables the Council to provide additional 

litterbins, increase collection services and target Fly Tipping 
offenders. 

3.20. Complaints are at a very low level and only one instance of negative 
publicity occurred over a year ago in 2017. The courts are supportive 
and there have been no known repeat offenders, which suggests the 
scheme may be moderating behaviour.

3.21. It is difficult to quantify the benefit that the litter enforcement service has 
had for the street cleansing teams. Anecdotally, the town centre cleaning 
team report less litter in the town and this seems to be borne out by a 
25% reduction in complaints about litter.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The scheme supports the Corporate Plan Environment and 
Sustainability theme, ET4 and Safer Communities theme, SC2 and SC3

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments



                             
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

18 SEPTEMBER 2018

Financial Implications As set out in the body of the report

Legal Implications
 

The existing contractual arrangements with 
Kingdom will continue until terminated on (at 
least) 2 months’ written notice given by either 
party. 
A Tenancy at Will has been granted to Kingdom 
for the use by its administration support officer of 
office space in the Civic Centre offices. This 
Tenancy at Will is expected to continue, while the 
contract with Kingdom subsists or until 
terminated at any time by either party.

Staffing Implications As set out in the body of the report

Administrative 
Implications

As set out in the body of the report

Risk Assessment There is a risk that the Council will experience 
negative publicity. This has been mitigated by 
careful planning, raised public awareness and 
robust contract monitoring. A comprehensive 
Customer Access Review has been completed.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

None.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Mark Salisbury 
(01322) 343339

EARS
Strategic
Directorate
External 
Services

N/A




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 10 July 2018
	7 Regulation 9 Notice
	8 Council Litter Enforcement Scheme [Draw Down]

